2015

## State of Utah Plaintiff/Appellee vs. Chadley Keith Calvert Defendant/Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

On July 1, 2014, the trial court entered judgment against Chadley Keith Calvert for Aggravated Assault, a third degree felony, Utah Code Ann. §76-5-103(1995) and Threatening Or Using A Dangerous Weapon In A Fight, a class A misdemeanor, Utah Code Ann. 76 – 10 – 506. R. 231–233. The Sentence, Judgment and Commitment, is attached as Addendum A. Calvert did not timely appeal, but filed a Motion to Reinstate the Time for Appeal. R. 237 – 241. The court granted Calvert’s Motion to Reinstate the Time to File Notice of Appeal. R. 273 – 274. From that final Order Calvert filed a timely Notice Of Appeal. R.276 – 277. This Court has original jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78A-4-103(2)(e)(2012).

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE, STANDARD OF REVIEW, PRESERVATION**

**Issue I:** Was defense counsel ineffective during trial in failing to move to merge the Threatening with a Dangerous Weapon conviction into the Aggravated Assault?

**Standard of review:** Ineffective assistance of counsel questions require a showing that counsel’s performance was deficient, “that it fell below an objective standard of reasonableness” and that the defendant was prejudiced thereby. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). Merger questions are reviewed for legal correctness. *State v. Lee*, 2006 UT 5, P26, 128 P.3d 1179.

**Preservation:** Unpreserved claims before the trial court are reviewed for plain error and/or ineffective assistance of counsel. *State v. Kozlov*, 2012 UT App 114, ¶ 28, 276 P.3d 1207, 1218

**Issue II:** Did defense counsel's failure to move at sentencing that the Threatening Or Using A Dangerous Weapon charge be merged with the Aggravated Assault (dangerous weapon) constitute ineffective assistance of counsel?

**Standard of Review:** Ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of law and fact. *Menzies v. Galetka*, 2006 UT 81, ¶ 56, 150 P.3d 480, 502. "An ineffective assistance of counsel claim raised for the first time on appeal presents a question of law." *State v. Clark*, 2004 UT 25, ¶ 6, 89 P.3d 162.

**Preservation:** Unpreserved claims before the trial court are reviewed for plain error and/or ineffective assistance of counsel. *State v. Kozlov*, 2012 UT App 114, ¶ 28, 276 P.3d 1207.

**Issue III:** Did the court err in granting the State's 404(b) Motion?

**Standard of Review:** A trial court's decision to admit evidence under rule 404(b) is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *State v. Lowther*, 2015 UT App 180, ¶ 8, 356 P.3d 173.

**Preservation:** The State filed a motion to admit prior acts of the defendant pursuant to Utah R. Evid. 404(b). R.93–108. The defendant opposed the motion. R.115–127. The State's Motion was granted in part and denied in part. R.154;R.282:30. The State called one 404(b) witness. R.282:287-299.

**Issue IV:** Did providing the prosecutor's laptop computer to the jury constitute structural error? Did trial counsel's failure to object to the prosecutor's laptop computer being supplied to the jury during deliberations constitute structural error?

**Standard of Review:** Denial of the right to a jury is a “structural defec[t] in the constitution of the trial mechanism, which def[ies] analysis by ‘harmless-error’ standards.” *Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 113 L.Ed.2d 302. The deprivation of counsel during trial proceedings is a structural error. *Johnson v. United States*, 520 U.S. 461, 469, 117 S.Ct. 1544, 1549 (1997).

**Preservation:** At the close of all the evidence, the State offered its laptop computer to play a CD which was in evidence. R.284:147. No objection to that procedure was raised by the defense. *Id.* Prior to sentencing the defendant moved for arrest of judgment, Utah Rule Crim. P. 23. R. 204 – 220. The court denied the motion. R.238:21.

### **RULES, STATUTES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS**

Rules, statutes and constitutional provisions relevant to this appeal are included at Addendum B.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **Nature of the Case, Course of the Proceedings, Disposition in the Court Below**

The State filed an Information charging Calvert with Aggravated Assault (Dangerous Weapon), Utah Code Ann. 76 – 5 – 103 (1), a third degree felony; and Threatening with or Using a Dangerous Weapon in a Fight or Quarrel, Utah Code Ann 76 – 10 – 506, a class A misdemeanor. R.1-3. Mr. Calvert waived preliminary hearing with the consent of the State and the court bound the defendant over for trial on both charges. R. 21 – 22. Defendant entered pleas of not guilty to the charges as alleged in the

Information. R. 31 – 33. The State filed a motion *in limine* to admit prior acts of the defendant pursuant to Utah R. Evid. 404(b). R. 93 – 108. The defendant opposed the motion. R. 115 – 127. Oral argument was heard prior to trial. R.282:6-30.

The court granted in part and denied in part the State's Motion. R.282:30;R.154.

Trial was held April 30, 2014 through May 1, 2014. R. 154-162; R.282, 284. The jury found the defendant guilty as to both counts. R.161, 170; R.166,167; R.284:149.

Calvert made a Motion For Arrest Of Judgment, on the basis, *inter alia*, that the prosecutor's laptop computer was taken to the jury room at the time of their deliberations. Utah Rule Crim. P. 23, R. 204-214. The State filed an Objection to Calvert's Motion . R.222-228. The parties argued the Motion to Arrest Judgment. R.238:1-20. The court denied the Motion. R.283:20-21.

The court sentenced the defendant on July 1, 2014 to the indeterminate term of zero to five years in prison on the Aggravated Assault, suspended, and 365 days in jail on the Threatening or Using a Dangerous weapon, all but 275 days suspended, *inter alia*, upon serving 90 days jail and 36 months probation. R.238:21-26;R.231-233.

The defendant filed a Motion to Reinstate the Appeal Time. R.237-231. The State opposed the Motion. R.242-250. The matter was heard and the court entered a final Order granting the Motion on December 18, 2014. R.271-272. Calvert timely appealed January 5, 2015. R.276-277.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

#### **A. State's Case.**

The circumstances of this case involve a birthday party for Hugo Holguin at the home of then 13 year old Anthony Canales, and his neighbor, Hugo, and Yolanda Trujillo, on July 16, 2012. R.282:91-92,101,144,258. Yolanda and Hugo lived at 6674 So. 5500 W., West Jordan for 16 years. R.282:252. Hugo's brother Adon was present, along with a lot of young and teen aged children. R282:230, 253.

The children walked or rode their bicycles in the vicinity of Calvert's property, at 6656 S. 5500 W. R.282:93,118,124,161,195;R,284:53. Depending on the witness testifying, the children present were aged anywhere from 3 to 16. R.282:124,161. Sixteen year old Kelsey Pitts testified that she and her friends were outside riding bikes and Calvert came outside his house, really upset and started yelling profanity at them and to get off his property. R.282:195. But they we were on the sidewalk. Id. Present were Araht, Karen Holguin, Andrew Holguin's little sister Vanessa, Anthony (Canales), and three or four year old Israel. Id. She attempted to apologize but he seemed to get more angry. Id. So they went to get the parents. Id. Calvert seemed to be yelling randomly, freaking them out. R.282:209. She saw nobody do anything on his property. Id.

Araht testified that they were going to get bikes and heard him screaming. R.282:145. Andrew Holguin testified he was close by Calvert's House when he heard Calvert swearing, talking to his cousin, Araht, also swearing. R.282:128. They all stopped because Calvert was using the F word, directed at Araht. R. 282:119. Araht testified he told Calvert," don't be talking to little kids like that." R.282:165. But Calvert told him to shut the fuck up. Id. He said, "be quiet big boy," "before I kick your ass." R.282:145.

He told the kids to go back to their parents. Id. Araht testified the youngest child present was four or five, the oldest 15 when Calvert became really aggressive. R.282:146. So he went to get his parents and they came over. Id.

After Araht left to get his parents, along with his uncle, Hugo, Adon, his dad, and aunt Yolanda, they walked back together. R.282:176. Calvert had a gun. R.282:175. Araht saw a laser pointing to the ground right outside Calvert's house. R.282:177. Araht observed a laser pointing and threatening Hugo, who was trying to get Calvert to put his gun down. R.282:178. Adon was there, saw Hugo get mad, and tried to calm him down. Id. Araht maintained that Hugo got mad, but was not drunk, and that "No one had been drinking that day." R.282:179. Testimony is conflicting on that point, however, as Anthony Canales had previously testified that Hugo was pretty drunk. R.282:102.

Adon Holguin, Araht's dad, R.282:169, testified he was at his brother, Hugo's, house, having a peaceful party when the kids came and said a person was screaming at them. R.282:231. Hugo went out, then older kids came and said there was a man with a gun. Id. So Adon walked with Hugo over to Calvert's house. Id. They were talking, and "I took Hugo and I asked him to go—just go back to his house." He asked Hugo's wife to take him home and have Hugo call 911. Id.

According to Adon, Calvert was initially calm but nervous, chatting peacefully. R.282:232. While Adon was standing on the sidewalk, Calvert told him the kids had gone into his garage and destroyed his property. Id. Suddenly Calvert changed his attitude, saying twice he was done talking. Id. He noticed something under Calvert's



arm, but didn't know what and Calvert said three times he was done talking and was going to bring out his dogs. R.282:233. Calvert continued demanding he leave or "things are going to go down." R.282:235. At that point he noticed the laser pointing halfway between the two of them going back and forth. Id. Calvert continued threatening them to leave or things are going to get really bad, with a "big mess" to "clean up on floor." Id. Adon told him he didn't have to leave as he wasn't on his property. Id.

In the meantime, as his dad and uncle were in front of Calvert's garage, Araht called the police on his cell phone from two houses down. R.282:149. He said Calvert pointed a gun with a laser at them. R.282:151. He informed dispatch that Calvert went inside with the gun when he was told they were calling the cops. R.282:155.

Hugo Holguin testified that when he approached the house on the sidewalk, conceding "maybe both said bad words," that Calvert was offensive and told him to leave and go to hell. R.282:254. Calvert had a gun in his hand, and when Hugo asked him what happened, he pointed it toward his chest. Id. He put the laser on him for probably 30 seconds. Id. Contrary to Yolanda's testimony that no one had drunk any alcohol that day, R.282:279-280, Hugo testified that he had had 2 or 3 beers. R.282:255. Adon also testified to having one or two beers. R.282:238.

Yolanda testified that when they approached Calvert's property the first thing she heard was Calvert saying get the F off my property and go back to your F-ing house. R.282:281. She saw a gun in his hand and a red laser dot. Id. Calvert was moving the

laser around and pointed at Hugo several times. R.282:265. At first the gun was at his waist and then it was pointed at Hugo's chest, which is when she got scared and told Hugo to go back to the house and both him and Araht to call 911. R.282:282. Hugo was as angry as she had ever seen him. R.282:285. Hugo did not talk long, then left with Yolanda to go back to the house while Adon was still talking to Calvert. R.282:283.

Adon stayed and tried to maintain talking to him until police arrived. When police arrived Calvert ran in to the garage and deposited the gun. R.282:236. Adon testified Calvert never pointed gun at him, just threatened him, moving the gun up and down insisting he should leave the property or things would get ugly. R.282:246. He said he felt threatened, but didn't leave because Calvert was doing something wrong. Id.

The State put on a witness, Camille Little, for Utah R. Evid., Rule 404(b) purposes. Her testimony will be discussed in Point II.

What role alcohol played in this misadventure is unclear from the various positions taken. Bryan Majors, a former neighbor of Mr. Calvert, testified that one of the men he observed, presumably either Hugo or Adon, the individual he saw step off Calvert's driveway, seemed intoxicated by his mannerisms, the way he was walking and talking. R.284:16-17, 24. The individual acted like he wanted to fight Chad, sounding angry, loud and hostile. R.284:25.

## **B. Defense Case**

Mr. Calvert testified that a couple of days prior to the incident he had had a triple neurectomy involving three nerves from groin to back to thigh. R.284:54. He was doing

alright that night, just experiencing pain and discomfort from sutures and surgery. Id. At roughly 10:30 p.m. he was awakened by his two Rottweilers barking in the basement. R.284:55. When he looked outside he saw a bunch of children causing all sorts of ruckus in his front yard. Id. The children were tall and big, but not adults. One was hanging in his tree bending the limbs down on top of his vehicle, bouncing up and down scratching the hood. Id. So he told them to get out of the tree. Id. The children started yelling at him, one picked up something and threw it at him, and there was a verbal shouting match. R.284:56. One was shouting profanities, as was he. Id. Calvert was upset about the damaging of his property and the kid came unglued. Id. Calvert remained on the porch. Id. They slowly left and Calvert went back in his house through the garage, grabbed a flashlight and went to check out his property. Id. When he got to the corner of his property, a sprinkler had been uprooted and broken and he started fixing it. Id. At that time, two young ladies approached him and said they were sorry. Id. He said he took pride in his yard, they were vandalizing his stuff, it is 10:30 at night, and they should be home. R.284:57. They said they were sorry and walked away. Id.

Calvert went inside after fixing the sprinkler, grabbed a burrito came back out on his porch and was eating. R.284:57. Laying on an angle on the porch because of the surgery, he heard a scuffle behind him, turned around and somebody was trying to reach through his railing to grab him. Id. This scared him, he jumped up, went back in, alarms went off, and the garage alarm went off, indicating someone's presence. Id. He did not know who reached for him. R.284:58.

The alarm system indicates the part of the house or garage penetrated through motion detectors. R.284:59. When he went out to fix the sprinkler, he opened the garage door, leaving it open. Id. The alarm going off indicated somebody was in the garage. Id. It does not stop unless whoever is present removes himself from the garage. R.284:60.

At that point, the alarm still going off, Mr. Calvert ran into the house, shut the door, called Brian Majors, and said he had an "incident" and needed help. R.284:61. He told Bryan he was going to get his gun. Id. He then went upstairs to the third floor and retrieved the firearm from his gun safe. Id. The alarm was still going off, indicating someone's presence remaining in the garage. Id. The basement door alarm had not gone off, so he knew no one had penetrated the house itself. Id. He opened the basement door and "there is a gentleman three feet, right there standing in my garage. Pitch black." Id. The laser had already been turned on. Id. Calvert told him to get out of his garage and off his property. R.284:62. He had never before seen the man, who put his hands up, which made Calvert feel a bit safer, and started backing out of the garage. R.284:62,65. The man backed down the driveway, and halfway down Calvert holstered his handgun, a Glock 27 with a laser, locking it in a "paddle," a type of locking secure holster, with the laser still on. R.284:62,77. Calvert believed it was understandable with the paddle at his side as he moved around that someone would testify that it was jumping around on the ground. Id.

As Calvert reached the threshold of his garage, another man was standing in the darkness to his left and yet another at his right. R.284:63,80. Also there was a man

standing in front by the tree. Id. Calvert did not know them, one was speaking Spanish, and he did not leave the confines of the garage. Id. He had called his friend, Bryan, asking him to call the police, and he could see Brian across the street. R.284:66-67. Bryan was the closest person to him, and although there were people around at that point they started to dissipate except for the man in front of him who was not leaving. R.284:67. Calvert just kept saying get off my property, leave, and Brian was saying the same thing. Id. Some people approached Brian and he told them to back off and go home. Id. Brian was very loud which seemed to take the heat off with everyone knowing he was on the phone with 911. R.284:68. The police showed up shortly after that. Id.

Calvert had not shut the garage when the police arrived. They went to Brian's house, and immediately the "shadows" started going away heading back toward their property. R.284:69. Calvert took his paddle and firearm out of his shorts and set it on his four wheeler. R.284:69,80. It accidentally fell and hit the floor, so he unlocked and removed it from the paddle, setting it on the foot peg of the four wheeler. R.284:69,81.

Officers came up and Calvert told them the story about the gentleman trying to grab him. R.284:70. They indicated it appeared to be self-defense and sounded justified. Id. Other officers were talking to the intruders, those that were causing the problem, more or less to corral them and get them to go back to their house. Id. They got them out of his yard and officer Jex pulled up. Id. He approached and asked Calvert where all his guns were and how many he had. Id. Calvert said he did not need to tell them where or

how many guns he had, at which point Jex immediately put Calvert in handcuffs and said okay do not step off of your property. R.284:70,82.

Officer Jex told him he could not go in his house, that he was calling animal control and applying for a search warrant. R.284:71. Calvert was flabbergasted after having talked to the two other officers. Id. After putting Calvert in handcuffs Jex went and talked to the other people then came back and uncuffed him for some reason. Id. Jex said he would screen the case with the prosecutor's office. Id. Nevertheless, Jex was still going to apply for a search warrant and take his animals. R.284:72. With that information, Calvert gave him consent to search and conveyed information about his firearms, walked Jex into the bedroom, showed him where the gun safe was and other firearms he wanted to know about. Id. Calvert consented as he had nothing to hide. Id.

Calvert indicated he had never met Hugo Holguin before this trial. R.284:74. He could have been the man that night but it was too dark to tell. R.284:82. He did not deny having a gun when asked by Officer Jex, but never talked to him about a laser. Id. He told Officer Jex the Glock was loaded, that the kids were damaging his property, specifically the tree, and Jex again arrested Calvert. R.284:84. He told Officer Jex he initially had a flashlight. R.284:89. The gun should have been loaded, but upon their inspection, Calvert was surprised it was not. Id. The defense rested. R.284:90.

### **C. State's Rebuttal.**

Officer Jex was recalled and commented on Mr. Calvert's testimony. He said Calvert had mentioned his tree being damaged and was worried that the tree would touch

his car but mentioned no damage. R.284:92. He talked about his yard, not recalling the sprinkler, but conceding he might have. R.284:92,94. Calvert did not mention someone grabbing him through the railing, or anyone in the garage. Id. That would have changed his approach as it would have been investigated as a residential burglary. R.284:93,97. The State thereupon rested.

Each of the parties gave closing arguments. R.284:129-144. The bailiff was sworn and jury excused for deliberation. R.284:144-146. The State indicated that the jury would need some way of listening to the CD, which was a recording of Araht's 911 call, State's Exhibit 2. R.283:157;R.284:146. The State indicated, "I have got a laptop if they – if they need it." R.284:147. Defense counsel made no objection to the prosecutor's laptop going to the jury. Id.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

1. At trial, defense counsel should have moved, no later than at the close of all the evidence, to either dismiss one of the two charges, Threatening With a Dangerous Weapon or Aggravated Assault, merge the lesser threatening charge into the greater assault, or request a jury instruction that Threatening With a Dangerous Weapon is a lesser included offense of Aggravated Assault (2012). Failure to take any action was ineffective assistance of counsel subjecting Mr. Calvert to double convictions and sentences for the same conduct.

2. Defense counsel was ineffective at the time of sentencing for failing to move to merge the conviction for Threatening With A Dangerous Weapon into the

aggravated assault.

3. As only one isolated instance of an alleged prior bad act was presented, the “doctrine of chances” was inapplicable, and the trial court erred in admitting the evidence on that basis. Additionally, however, the trial court failed to conduct the necessary 404(b) “scrupulous examination.” Even had it done so, it would have been an abuse of discretion to admit this extrinsic evidence. Even if it were admissible, the prejudicial effect of the evidence outweighed its probative value.

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