2016

State of Utah Plaintiff/Appellee vs. Chadley Keith Calvert Defendant/Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

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

neighbors, but he only disagreed with what happened, Calvert asserts that rebutting fabrication was not in bona fide dispute here. *Id.*

But *Verde* does not limit rule 404(b) evidence to rebut total—as opposed to partial—fabrication. Indeed, *Verde* itself relied on a rape case—*Nelson-Waggoner*, 2000 UT 59—where the defendant did not deny having sex, but rather claimed that she had consented to sexual acts other than those alleged. *Verde*, 2012 UT 60, ¶53; *Nelson-Waggoner*, 2000 UT 59, ¶12. Thus, admitting 404(b) evidence to rebut a charge of partial fabrication is just as proper to rebut a charge of total fabrication.

Calvert similarly asserts that rebutting self-defense was not a proper purpose because his case differs from *Labrum*, 2014 UT App 5, ¶23, where this court held that rebutting self-defense was a proper purpose. *Labrum* was charged with assaulting his wife. *Id.* at ¶2. During the altercation, his wife was holding a set of keys, which *Labrum* landed on during the assault. *Id.* at ¶3. *Labrum* claimed self-defense, testifying that his wife used the keys to attack him. *Id.* at ¶4. This court held that the State properly introduced 404(b) evidence of prior abuse to show that the wife took the keys to bed to defend herself against *Labrum* and to rebut *Labrum*’s self-defense claim. *Id.* at ¶23. Calvert acknowledges *Labrum*, but baldly asserts

that rebutting self-defense is not a proper purpose here because *Labrum* “is not analogous to the incident involving Ms. Little.” Aplt.Br. 29-30.

As with *Verde*, Calvert misunderstands *Labrum*. *Labrum* did not limit the applicability of a given 404(b) purpose to the facts of that case. If anything, *Labrum* supports the State’s argument that rebutting self-defense is a proper purpose. *Labrum*, 2014 UT App 5, ¶23; see also *State v. High*, 2012 UT App 180, ¶48, 282 P.3d 1046 (explaining that gang affiliation evidence “may be probative to rebut a self-defense claim in some instances”).

As explained, the doctrine of chances requires four foundational elements: materiality, similarity, independence, and frequency. *Verde*, 2012 UT 60, ¶¶57-61. Calvert argues that it is “patently obvious” that a single incident cannot show the doctrine of chances’ frequency requirement, because the same misfortune must befall an individual “over and over.” Aplt.Br. 31 (citing *State v. Lowther*, 2015 UT App 180, 356 P.3d 173, cert. granted, 364 P.3d 48 (Utah 2015)). But while more than one instance may increase the strength of a given inference, it is not logically required under the doctrine of chances. See, e.g., *State v. Lomu*, 2014 UT App 41, ¶¶22-34, 321 P.3d 243 (robbery case admitting evidence of one subsequent robbery under doctrine of chances). Even a single unlikely instance—such as a prior lottery win or one prior wife drowning in a bathtub—tends to show that the

second unlikely instance was not merely a fluke, but the result of the defendant's conscious actions.

Calvert next argues that the trial court abused its discretion under rule 403 because the Holladay incident evidence merely showed his "reprehensible character," and had an "unusual propensity to unfairly prejudice" the jury against him. Aplt.Br. 32-33 (citation omitted). "[T]he exclusion of relevant evidence under Rule 403 is an extraordinary remedy" that should be used only "sparingly." *Wheeler*, 862 F.2d at 1408 (citation and quotation omitted).

As explained, the existence of dual inferences—one proper, one improper—does not alone render other acts evidence inadmissible under rule 403. Rather, the evidence is excluded only where "the *sole* reason it is being offered is to prove bad character or to show that a person acted in conformity with that character." *Olsen*, 869 P.2d at 1010 (citation and quotation omitted). As shown, the evidence here had the proper, noncharacter purposes of rebutting Calvert's claim of self-defense and implicit charge of fabrication.

More importantly, the Holladay incident was not the sort of evidence that would have an "unusual propensity" to unfairly prejudice the jury against Calvert. Aplt.Br. 33. That kind of evidence includes "gruesome

crime scene photos, rape victims' sexual histories, and pseudoscientific methodologies." *State v. McCullar*, 2014 UT App 215, ¶46, 335 P.3d 900. Compared to the charged acts, the Holladay incident was fairly tame because Calvert there did not draw and point a gun like he did here. That the other acts evidence was less shocking than the evidence of the charged acts shows that its tendency to unfairly prejudice Calvert was low. *Lucero*, 2014 UT 15, ¶35 (holding under rule 403 that evidence of prior abuse not unfairly prejudicial because it was "tame in comparison to" evidence of charged conduct); cf. *State v. Reed*, 2000 UT 68, ¶31, 8 P.3d 1025 ("evidence of multiple acts of similar or identical abuse is unlikely to prejudice a jury").

Calvert also asserts that because the legal proceedings regarding the Holladay incident were dismissed, it is "impossible to conclude" that it was not itself a false accusation. Aplt.Br. 35. But charging is no prerequisite, and acquittal is no bar, to the admission of 404(b) evidence. See *Dowling v. United States*, 493 U.S. 342, 348-49 (1990); *State v. Killpack*, 2008 UT 49, ¶46, 191 P.3d 17; *State v. Widdison*, 2001 UT 60, ¶43 n.9, 28 P.3d 1278; *Nelson-Waggoner*, 2000 UT 59, ¶31.

Calvert finally argues on this point that the trial court abused its discretion because it did not "scrupulously examine" the evidence. Aplt.Br. 38. He asserts—without citation—that the trial court was "hard pressed to

make such a scrupulous examination if the evidence without an evidentiary hearing.” Apl’t.Br. 38. But Calvert never requested an evidentiary hearing below, and Utah appellate courts have never required one. *Cf. Cuttler*, 2015 UT 95, ¶¶8, 14 (relying on the State’s “proffered evidence” to reverse trial court ruling excluding child sex abuse evidence under rule 403).

The Utah Supreme Court has held that a trial court must “scrupulously” examine 404(b) evidence “in the proper exercise” of its discretion. *State v. Widdison*, 2001 UT 60, ¶42, 28 P.3d 1278. There is no set procedure for trial courts to show a scrupulous examination. In the past, Utah courts have looked to the whole record to see if the trial court considered all the necessary factors. *See State v. Nelson-Waggoner* 2000 UT 59, ¶16, 6 P.3d 1120 (“We review the record to determine whether the admission of [404(b)] evidence was scrupulously examined by the trial judge.”) (citation and quotations omitted). Evidence of scrupulous examination—as contained in the parties’ briefing and arguments, and the trial court’s ruling—need not be overwhelming; it need show only that the trial court understood and applied the correct standard. *See Widdison*, 2001 UT 60, ¶44 (holding trial court conducted scrupulous examination where “the parties extensively briefed and argued the issue” of 404(b) evidence); *State v. Nielsen*, 2012 UT App 2, ¶16 n.3, 271 P.3d 817 (holding trial court

made “sufficiently scrupulous examination” where the “parties presented arguments at various times,” and the trial court made “sufficient inquiry” into *Shickles* factors, even though it did “not expressly” identify them); *Burke*, 2011 UT App 168, ¶27 n.10 (“We acknowledge that . . . the trial court simply ruled from the bench . . . and did not enter any specific findings or conclusions. However, based on the evidence and argument before the trial court on this issue, it can be inferred that the trial court ‘scrupulously examined’ the relevant evidence.”); *State v. Bradley*, 2002 UT App 348, ¶38, 57 P.3d 1139 (holding trial court scrupulously examined evidence due to parties’ briefing and arguments, even though it did not make “specific, detailed findings” on each point).

Thus, scrupulous examination is not a high bar to clear. *See, e.g., See Widdison*, 2001 UT 60, ¶44 (holding trial court conducted scrupulous examination because “the parties extensively briefed and argued the issue” of 404(b) evidence); *Lomu*, 2014 UT App 41, ¶34 (holding that scrupulous examination “can be inferred when the trial court has heard arguments on the relevant issues and has made ‘sufficient inquiry’” into issues); *Nielsen*, 2012 UT App 2, ¶16 n.3 (holding trial court made “sufficiently scrupulous examination” because the “parties presented arguments at various times” and the trial court made “sufficient inquiry” into rule 403, even though it

did “not expressly” identify factors; *Burke*, 2011 UT App 168, ¶27 n.10 (“We acknowledge that . . . the trial court simply ruled from the bench . . . and did not enter any specific findings or conclusions. However, based on the evidence and argument before the trial court on this issue, it can be inferred that the trial court ‘scrupulously examined’ the relevant evidence.”); *Bradley*, 2002 UT App 348, ¶38 (holding trial court scrupulously examined evidence based on parties’ briefing and arguments, even though it did not make “specific, detailed findings” on each point); *but see State v. Lowther*, 2015 UT App 180, ¶35, 356 P.3d 173 (reversing where “the trial court failed to scrupulously examine the proposed rule 404(b) evidence”), *cert. granted*, 365 P.3d 48 (Utah 2015); *State v. Thornton*, 2014 UT App 265, ¶47, 339 P.3d 112 (reversing where trial court “did not engage in the scrupulous examination required” under rule 404(b)), *cert. granted*, 352 P.3d 106 (Utah 2015).

The trial court’s examination more than sufficed here. It received briefing and argument from both sides on the relevant facts and law, including the proper non-character purposes of disproving fabrication and self-defense. R93-108; R115-27; R283:7-29. It noted the *Verde* factors and adopted the State’s characterization of them. R283:30. It explicitly found that the evidence’s probative value was not outweighed “by the prejudicial

effect.” *Id.* And the defense arguments were partially successful in that the court excluded one of the State’s two proposed incidents as “a little bit too far afield.” *Id.*; cf. *State v. Marchet*, 2009 UT App 262, ¶¶4, 40, 219 P.3d 75 (holding scrupulous examination where trial court evaluated multiple other acts, admitting some and excluding another). All these facts show scrupulous examination. See *Lomu*, 2014 UT App 41, ¶34.

In sum, the trial court properly exercised its discretion to admit the Holladay incident to rebut his self-defense claim and argument that the other witnesses fabricated their testimony.

Any error was harmless in any event because there was “no reasonable likelihood that the error affected the outcome of the proceedings.” *State v. Davis*, 2013 UT App 228, ¶73, 311 P.3d 538 (citation and quotation omitted). The State’s case against Calvert was overwhelming, the prosecutor did not use the prior assault in arguing Calvert’s guilt here, and the trial court gave a curative instruction. *State v. Ferguson*, 2011 UT App 77, ¶¶19-20, 250 P.3d 89 (holding erroneous admission of 404(b) evidence harmless where evidence of guilt “overwhelming”); cf. *State v. Bond*, 2015 UT 88, ¶29 n.8, 361 P.3d 104 (holding no prejudice from co-defendant’s invocation of Fifth Amendment privilege where “prosecutor did not rely on or refer to” it afterwards);

Labrum, 2014 UT App 5, ¶37 (holding no misuse of 404(b) evidence where trial court gave limiting instruction).

First, the evidence of Calvert's guilt was overwhelming: seven eyewitnesses testified that Calvert threatened several children and adults with a gun and that he pointed the gun at Hugo. While Calvert's self-serving testimony was inconsistent and incredible, the witnesses' testimony was consistent and corroborated. For example, Calvert told police that he did not have a loaded gun with a laser sight on it, but police found one in the garage just as witnesses said they would. R283:183-84, 303-09. Second, the prosecutor did not mention the Holladay incident in opening statement, closing arguments, or any other time. *See* R283:87-88; R284:129-36, 142-44. Third, Ms. Little's testimony of the Holladay incident was brief, spanning merely 10 pages of nearly 500 pages of trial transcript. R283:289-99. Its impact, therefore, was minimal. Finally, the trial court gave a limiting instruction. R200. Thus, there is "no reasonable likelihood that" admitting the Holladay incident "affected the outcome of the proceedings." *Davis*, 2013 UT App 228, ¶¶73, 76.

IV.

Calvert's ineffective assistance claim that the jury might have been exposed to improper material during deliberations because they had access to a prosecution laptop to listen to a 911 call is entirely speculative.⁸

Calvert argues that his trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the jury's taking the prosecution's laptop into deliberations so that they could listen to the 911 call. Aplt.Br. 40. He asserts that counsel was required to object because the laptop was not evidence, and violated his rights to counsel and jury trial. Aplt.Br. 43-45. As explained, to prevail, Calvert must prove both (1) deficient performance and (2) prejudice. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689-92. And, again, proof of prejudice must be based on a "demonstrable reality and not a speculative matter." *Chacon*, 962 P.2d at 50.

A. Counsel did not object when the prosecutor offered a laptop for the jury to listen to the 911 call, and the prosecutor explained that the laptop contained no case files.

After the jury retired to deliberate, the court wanted to ensure that all of the exhibits "g[o]t back to the jury." R284:146. The prosecutor noted that one of the exhibits—the 911 recording—was a CD, and offered a laptop for the jury to use if they wanted to listen to it. *Id.* at 146-47. The trial court

⁸ Calvert has also filed a motion for remand under rule 23B, Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, to supplement the record on this claim. The State responds to that motion separately.

accepted the prosecutor's offer, and defense counsel did not object. R284:147. The jury was instructed that their verdict must be based "only on the evidence," which included "the testimony and exhibits presented at trial." R174.

Before sentencing, defense counsel moved to arrest judgment based on, among other things, the jury's having potentially accessed something improper on the laptop. R204-13. Though counsel was present when the prosecutor offered the laptop to the court, R284:147, he now alleged that he had learned about it only "[s]everal days" after trial from some trial attendees. R209. Counsel argued that having the laptop accessible to the jury constituted "other good cause" under rule 23, Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, to arrest judgment because it might have injected "outside materials or influences" into the deliberations and created an "appearance of impropriety." R210. He proffered no evidence that the jury had used the laptop, let alone that it contained anything improper for the jury to view. R204-13. The prosecutor proffered that the laptop was just a tool to use during jury trials, and that it did not have any of his files, email, or case information on it. R219, 226-27. The prosecutor added that he had discussed the laptop with defense counsel at the time he made the offer, and that when defense counsel "expressed concern" about it, the prosecutor

“assured him the laptop contained no case files” and offered to let defense counsel “check the laptop himself.” R226. Both parties then “left the room.” *Id.*

The trial court heard argument on the motion to arrest at sentencing. R282:13-14, 16-18. It denied the motion because “the laptop was controlled, it was only for the playing of the 9-1-1 call,” and the court did not “see that it caused any taint at all.” R282:21.

B. Counsel reasonably decided not to object to the use of the prosecutor’s laptop because there was—and is—no evidence that the jury used the laptop improperly.

Calvert argues that the mere presence of the prosecutor’s laptop during deliberations violated his right to counsel and right to jury trial, and that this Court should presume prejudice. *Aplt.Br.* 44-45. It is true that the complete denial of counsel is structural error, for which prejudice is presumed. *See Johnson v. United States*, 520 U.S. 461, 469 (1997). But Calvert was not denied counsel—he has been represented throughout both trial and appeal.

It is also true that denial of the right to jury trial is structural error. *Duncan v. Louisiana*, 391 U.S. 145, 157-58 (1968). But Calvert also was not denied a jury trial—he got one. He cites no case—and the State is aware of none—holding that a defendant was deprived of the rights to counsel and

jury trial merely because the jury had access to a laptop supplied by the prosecution.

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